FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/5/2021 8:00 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/5/2021
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

99734-9

NO.____ Court of Appeals NO. 80436-7-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID ZAITZEFF,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Noah Weil Attorney for Petitioner

Law Office of Noah Weil PLLC 4500 9th Ave NE, #300 Seattle, WA 98105 Ph# (206) 459-1310 Noah@BetterNoahLawyer.com

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Review should be granted because the published opinion, in finding the sword is a traditional, constitutionally-protected arm but affirming the conviction, conflicts with this Court's decision in *State v. Evans* and presents a significant question of constitutional law by allowing Seattle's Unlawful Use of Weapons ordinance to be applied to the carrying of a traditional arm in self-defense. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).
- 2. In affirming this ordinance, the Court of Appeals granted expansive power to legislatures to ban constitutionally-protected arms as long as any exemption exists, even if the exemption does not relate to self-defense. This is an issue of substantial public interest because it permits the Washington legislature and local municipalities to substantially alter the landscape of laws involving bearing arms. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. Review should also be granted because the published opinion conflicts with *State v. Ward* and presents a significant question of constitutional law regarding the ability of the trial courts to rule on necessity defenses and the evidences related therein *in limine*. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 2, 2018, the petitioner Mr. David Zaitzeff was walking in Green Lake Park in the City of Seattle. Supp-CP 6-8. He had a sheathed sword strapped to his body. *Id.* Mr. Zaitzeff was not brandishing his sword or otherwise using it while walking. *Id.* Nonetheless, a citizen was alarmed and called the police.

When the police arrived, they confirmed Mr. Zaitzeff possessed the sheathed sword. They inquired whether Mr. Zaitzeff was engaging in hunting or fishing, and he replied he was not. *Id.* The police issued a citation, took possession of the sword, and left. *Id.*

Mr. Zaitzeff was later charged with Unlawful Use of Weapons under Seattle Municipal Code (SMC) 12A.14.080(B) in Seattle Municipal Court. CP 35. Mr. Zaitzeff challenged the ordinance at a motion hearing. CP 1. This motion was denied. CP 30-31

Mr. Zaitzeff proceeded to trial pro se. CP 35. Mr. Zaitzeff gave notice of the defense of necessity. CP 45. During motions in limine the

City moved to exclude the defense and all evidence related to that defense at trial. CP 55-60. The trial court invited an offer of proof that Mr. Zaitzeff was not being imminently threatened and based on the offer of proof the court granted the City's motion to exclude the defense of necessity and evidence related to that defense¹. CP 60.

After the ruling, Mr. Zaitzeff proceeded to a stipulated facts bench trial. CP 78. The trial court found Mr. Zaitzeff guilty of violating the ordinance. CP 83.

Mr. Zaitzeff filed a RALJ appeal and the RALJ court affirmed, finding among other things that the sword was not a constitutionally protected arm. Mr. Zaitzeff moved for discretionary review in the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals accepted review.

In the published opinion included in the Appendix, the Court of Appeals differed from the lower courts and properly held a sword was a constitutionally-protected arm. But it held, despite this designation, Seattle's ordinance was valid because 1) swords were not banned inside the home, and 2) that swords were permitted to be carried on the street as long as they fell under the occupational exceptions in SMC 12A.14.100.

3

¹ While the court stated it would "reserve" on the ruling, the transcript makes it clear it would only revisit its decision to exclude if Mr. Zaitzeff produced a different offer of proof. The record is clear the court effectively excluded the defense and evidence related to that defense in limine.

The Court of Appeals also held parks were de facto sensitive areas, although the ordinance's sweep includes all of Seattle and is not limited to parks or sensitive areas.

The Court of Appeals, applying intermediate scrutiny, held that because of the exceptions to the ordinance, and the location Mr. Zaitzeff was arrested in, Mr. Zaitzeff's conviction should be affirmed.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. The charging ordinance is unconstitutional as applied because a sword is a traditional arm and under established constitutional precedent cannot be banned in the wholesale manner enacted by the Seattle City Council.

While under the Second Amendment of the United States

Constitution², and Art. 1, § 24 of the Washington State Constitution³ a

government is authorized to enact "reasonable regulations" to traditional

arms, Seattle's ordinance goes far beyond what is reasonable.

This matter revolves around SMC 12A.14.080(B), "Unlawful Use of Weapons." The ordinance states

"It is unlawful for a person to:

² "A well regulated Militia, being necessary to the security of a free State, the right of the people to keep and bear Arms, shall not be infringed." U.S. Const. amend. 2.

³ "The right of the individual citizen to bear arms in defense of himself, or the state, shall not be impaired, but nothing in this section shall be construed as authorizing individuals or corporations to organize, maintain or employ an armed body of men." WA Const. Art. 1 § 24.

B. Knowingly carry concealed or unconcealed on such person any dangerous knife, or carry concealed on such person any deadly weapon other than a firearm[.]

The code defines "dangerous knife" as "any fixed-blade knife and any other knife having a blade more than 3 1/2 inches in length." SMC 12A.14.010. This definition includes swords.

A separate ordinance contains a specific list of exemptions that negate the "unlawfulness" of possessing a dangerous knife. These are A) licensed hunters or fisherpersons actively engaging in the same, B) persons engaged in an occupation that utilizes the weapon, or C) if the weapon is carried in a secure wrapper while travelling from the place of purchase, repair, business, or home. SMC 12A.14.100.

Because the record did not show Mr. Zaitzeff fell under one of these exemptions, Mr. Zaitzeff was found guilty of violating SMC 12A.14.080(B). However, this ordinance is unconstitutional as applied to the facts of this case.

This specific ordinance runs afoul of modern United States

Supreme Court Second Amendment precedent, specifically *District of Columbia v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570, 128 S. Ct. 2783, 171 L. Ed. 2d 637 (2008); and *Caetano v. Massachusetts*, 136 S. Ct. 1027, 194 L. Ed. 2d, 9984 USLW 4133 (2016). Both cases uphold an individual's right to possess a traditional arm for self-defense, the core of the Second

Amendment. Seattle's ordinance, including its exemptions, makes no accommodation for the rules *Heller* and *Caetano* require when a government attempts to regulate traditional arms.

By upholding the ordinance despite finding the sword is a traditional arm, the opinion below conflicts with this Court's decision in *Seattle v. Evans*, 184 Wn.2d. 856, 366 P.3d 906 (2015), *cert. denied*, 137 S. Ct. 474 (2016). While *Evans* upheld the ordinance in a narrow 5-4 decision, it did not resolve the Second Amendment question because it held the blade in *Evans*, a paring knife, was *not* a traditional arm and thus not subject to Second Amendment protection. *Id.* at 859. Because this case involves a sword, a traditional arm; and not a paring knife, a kitchen tool, the Second Amendment protections are applicable here.

In its holding, the Court of Appeals determined the exemptions listed above save the ordinance, an interpretation that has been criticized in a concurrence by this Court. *Seattle v. Montana*, 129 Wn.2d 583, 600, 919 P.2d 1218 (1996) (Alexander, J., concurring). In affirming the ordinance through these exemptions, the Court of Appeals granted vast discretion to legislatures to ban arms for self-defense, as long as some non-self-defense exemption was written in.

The Court of Appeals also conflicted with this Court's opinion in Jorgenson by finding intermediate scrutiny applied even though Seattle's ordinance does not direct its ban to specific persons or specific places. State v. Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d 145, 312 P.3d 960 (2013).

Finally, the Court of Appeals conflicted with United States

Supreme Court precedent by finding the location of where Mr. Zaitzeff

was arrested a basis to uphold the conviction, even though the challenged

ordinance makes no distinction between parks or anywhere else. This

essentially writes into an ordinance an extra element the legislature did not

intend. This holding creates perverse incentives for law enforcement

because the implied element requires law enforcement to hold off on

arrests for violations until a defendant is in a de facto sensitive area. The

use of this implied element does not give fair notice of proscribed conduct

to citizens.

a. This Court has previously addressed this ordinance and explicitly left open this challenge in *Evans*.

In *Evans* the defendant was charged under the same Seattle knifeban ordinance, SMC 12A.14.080(B). There the defendant was carrying a fixed-blade paring (kitchen) knife for self-defense. The defendant challenged the ordinance as applied to him, arguing *Heller* and subsequent Second Amendment case law rendered Seattle's knife ban unconstitutional. *Evans*, 184 Wn.2d. at 861-62.

The fives justice majority in *Evans* court held the defendant's specific conduct was not entitled to constitutional protection because his paring knife was a kitchen tool and not an "arm." *Id.* at 861.

While the *Evans* court reviewed *Heller* and matters from other jurisdictions, it also examined an earlier case addressing the same ordinance at bar. *Montana*, 129 Wn.2d at 583.

Montana mirrors the holding in Evans: "Under even the broadest possible construction, the term 'arms' extends only to weapons designed as such, and not to every utensil, instrument, or thing which might be used to strike or injure another person. *Id.* at 590-91.

In a concurrence, Justice Alexander noted that while the specific blades in the case were not "arms" in the constitutional sense, he chided the majority for presuming Seattle's ordinance was actually constitutional: "...Seattle's ordinance is such a broad prohibition on the possession and carrying of knives, including those that fall within the definition of 'arms,' that it is not, as the majority indicates, a 'reasonable regulation.'" *Id.* at 600. (Alexander, J., concurring) (emphasis added).

Evans expressly contradicts the Court of Appeals' holding that the ordinance can be upheld against the facts of this case: Indeed, Montana implies, and Evans specifically calls out, this case where Seattle's ordinance is challenged when the weapon is a true "arm."

"We are mindful of—and expressly renew—the concern expressed in Justice Alexander's concurring opinion in *Montana*: many knives banned under the Seattle ordinance may be arms deserving constitutional protection...The problem that the concurrence identified was that "the ordinance exempts from its scope the carrying of knives while engaged in hunting, fishing, the culinary arts, and other lawful occupations, activities not protected by the constitution, yet does not exempt from its scope the carrying of arms for the purpose recognized in the statute constitution, self-defense...

In a different case under appropriate facts, the ordinance's "broad prohibition" on carrying arms for purposes of self-defense may well be constitutionally infirm. **We reserve judgment on this issue for an appropriate case**."

Evans, 184 Wn.2d at 864 (fn.6) (internal quotations and citations omitted) (emphases added).

This is that appropriate case. The Court of Appeals recognized Mr. Zaitzeff's sword is a traditional arm. It deserves constitutional protection. Because the ordinance is unconstitutional as applied, the Court of Appeals opinion is in conflict with this Court's prior opinion and raises a substantial constitutional issue. Review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3).

b. The United States Supreme Court, through *Heller* and *Caetano*, prohibit the City from banning traditional arms for self-defense purposes.

The seminal cases of modern Second Amendment jurisdprudence are the United States Supreme Court cases of *Heller* and *Caetano*.

Broadly *Heller* stands for a few, related propositions. First, the Second Amendment functions as codifying the individual's right to self-defense and to bear an arm for self-defense. Its protections encompass all traditional weapons, not merely those utilized in conjunction with military service.

Heller also referenced, and later cases made more explicit, the rights enshrined in the Second Amendment pervade public spaces, and do not exist solely in one's home. Rather, the Court noted Second Amendment protections were greatest in one's home, and least applicable for legislation referencing "sensitive areas." Seattle's ordinance does not reference sensitive areas and encompasses the entire public sphere of the City of Seattle. Seattle's ban vitiates the right to bear an arm for self-defense, and does so without regard to "sensitive areas."

This right to bear arms on the streets was addressed again by the Court in *Caetano*. In *Caetano*, the Court reviewed a conviction of unlawfully possessing a weapon, specifically a stun gun, carried on the street. The Court reversed the conviction, finding unanimously *per curiam* the ordinance at issue was unconstitutional under modern Second Amendment jurisprudence, especially *Heller. Caetano*, 136 S. Ct. at 1027.

In this matter Mr. Zaitzeff was carrying a sword, a traditional arm both used by the military and predating firearms. Unlike previous cases

involving this ordinance, discussed below, the Court of Appeals held Mr. Zaitzeff's sword was a traditional arm. Because of United States Supreme Court precedent and this Court's past discussions of this ordinance, the ordinance as applied to the facts of this case is unconstitutional.

- 2. For three reasons, the Court of Appeals conflicted with previous decisions in affirming the ordinance as constitutional despite the holding that the sword was a traditional, constitutionally-protected arm
 - a. Whether the ordinance should be evaluated under intermediate scrutiny, as applied by the Court of Appeals, or another standard is a significant constitutional question meriting this Court's review.

An as-applied challenge to the constitutional validity of a statute is characterized by a party's allegation that application of the statute in the specific context of the party's actions or intended actions is unconstitutional. *Evans*, 184 Wn.2d at 862.

While the challenger has the initial burden, the government bears the burden of establishing the constitutionality of the Second Amendment restriction under the appropriate scrutiny level.

Heller itself declined to apply a standard since the Court held the D.C. ordinance was clearly unconstitutional under any standard. 554 U.S. at 628. However, the Second Amendment right to self-defense has been considered a "fundamental right." *State v. Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d 276, 287,

225 P.3d 995 (2010)⁴. Traditionally, strict scrutiny is appropriate when the right is fundamental and the burden is high. *State v. Haq*, 166 Wn. App. 221, 253-54, 268 P.3d 997, *review denied*, 174 Wn.2d 1004 (2012).

In *Jorgenson*, the court reviewed a challenge to RCW 9.41.040(2)(a)(iv), which forbids those charged with a serious crime to possess firearms. *State v. Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d at 145. The court noted "The level of scrutiny (if any) applicable to firearm restrictions challenged under the Second Amendment is not settled." *Id.* at 159. The court ultimately settled on intermediate scrutiny because, drawing on analogy to First Amendment cases, it determined that if a statute was a restriction on "particular people" or "particular places", intermediate scrutiny was appropriate. *Id.* at 160-62. The court specifically noted the RCW was subject to intermediate scrutiny because it was *not* like the forbidden one in *Heller*: "[T]he handgun prohibition in *Heller*...applied to everyone in the jurisdiction..." *Id.* at 162.

In this case, SMC 12A.14.080 *does* apply to every person in the jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals conflicts with *Jorgenson* because it applied intermediate scrutiny even though the ordinance does not address "particular people" or "particular places." The question of scrutiny level

⁴ Interestingly, the *Sieyes* court, despite finding the Second Amendment right fundamental, followed the *Heller* model and declined to apply a level of scrutiny to claimed violations. *Sieyes*, 168 Wn.2d at 295.

12

when an ordinance is broader than the challenged one in *Jorgenson* is a significant constitutional question that warrants review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3).

b. The Court of Appeals discussion of the exemptions of this ordinance raises an issue of substantial public interest because it seriously alters the landscape of armrestricting legislation

The ordinance serves as a sweeping ban on the right to possess constitutionally-protected arms for self-defense. The Court of Appeals held the ordinance does not completely ban the possession of swords because it does not ban swords in the home; and the ordinance permits a sword to be carried in a secure wrapper to and from places of repair or abodes or business. Slip Op. at p. 13.

But these are exemptions that swallow the rule. As the *Evans* court noted, the exemptions involving secure wrappers and hunting and fishing are explicitly outside the scope of the purpose of the constitutional provisions, namely self-defense. *Evans*, 184 Wn.2d at 864 (fn.6). Indeed, requiring arms to be carried in secure wrappers explicitly interferes with a citizen's ability to employ self-defense.

Under the opinion of the Court of Appeals, any jurisdiction can now severely restrict constitutionally-protected arms from the street as long as some exemption identified exemption exists, even if it has nothing to do with self-defense. The legislature could ban possession of firearms in Washington unless they were possessed for hunting, or were taken to or from places of repair, or only openly carried in a gun safe.

Such exemptions would be a de facto and unconstitutional ban on firearms in the state. *See State v. Tarango*, 7 Wn. App. 2d 425, 433, 434 P.3d 77 (2019) (Washington is an "open carry" state). "Legal restrictions on an individual's possession of a firearm are imposed based on *e.g.*, the type of firearm; the individual's age, criminal history, or mental illness; provisions of protective orders; and on the possession of weapons in certain locations." *Id.* Here Seattle's ordinance makes no distriction on age, criminal history, mental illness, existence of protection orders, or locations.

Since both firearms and swords have been held to be constitutionally-protected arms, the Court of Appeals opinion treating their possession differently and upholding the ordinance conflicts with Court of Appeals and Supreme Court opinions. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

c. The Court of Appeals's decision frequently references sensitive locations to affirm Mr. Zaitzeff's conviction, although that text does not appear anywhere in the ordinance.

The Court of Appeals held the ordinance should be upheld because

Mr. Zaitzeff was carrying a sword in a park when he was cited. The

opinion frequently references this fact as germane when upholding Mr. Zaitzeff's conviction. *See*, *e.g*. Slip Op. p. 10: ("[A]n ordinance prohbiting the carrying of 24-inch swords in a public park in Seattle is reasonably necessary to protect public safety..."), *Id.* at p. 13: ("Prohibiting Zaitzeff from carrying his sword in Green Lake Park does not serverely burden his Second Amendment rights to warrant strict scrutiny."), *Id.* at p. 14: ("Swords are weapons. Carrying one around a public park can lead to violence or injuries.").

But the Court of Appeals' references to parks is anamolous because the ordinance makes no distinction between parks and everywhere else.

To be clear, the ordinance criminalizes the possession of swords the moment someone steps out of their home, as they walk down the street, as they stop to tie their shoes, and continues to criminalize the conduct if they end up walking to the local pier, alley, or dump.

Under this holding, law enforcement now has a perverse incentive to *not* arrest someone for a violation of the law if and until the person enters a park, in order to secure a conviction. That Mr. Zaitzeff was arrested in a park is part of the *res gestae*, but it has nothing to do with the constitutionality of this ordinance.

Citizens should not have to be legal scholars to know whether their conduct is actually legal or illegel. *See Lanzetta v. State New Jersey*, 306 U.S. 451, 59 S.Ct. 618, 83 L. Ed. 888 (1939) (citizens must be given fair notice of proscribed conduct).

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