FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/2/2021 10:45 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99734-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF SEATTLE,

Respondent,

VS.

DAVID ZAITZEFF,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PETER S. HOLMES SEATTLE CITY ATTORNEY

Richard Greene Assistant City Attorney WSBA #13496

Attorneys for Respondent

Seattle City Attorney Criminal Division 701 Fifth Ave., Suite 2050 Seattle, Washington 98104 telephone: (206) 684-8538

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

Defendant also contends that the Court of Appeals application of intermediate scrutiny to evaluate Seattle's ordinance conflicts with *State v. Jorgenson*, which determined that intermediate scrutiny applied to a statute prohibiting firearms possession by someone released on bond after a judge has found probable cause to believe that person has committed a serious offense. Again, the nature of the conflict between these decisions is entirely unclear.

Defendant also contends that the Court of Appeals analysis reciting that defendant's conduct occurred in a park conflicts with some unidentified United States Supreme Court precedent.

Defendant raised an as-applied challenge to the ordinance so the particular facts of the incident necessarily frame the court's

⁶ 184 Wn.2d 856.

⁷ Zaitzeff v. City of Seattle, 484 P.3d 470, 475-76 (2021).

⁸ Evans, 184 Wn.2d at 870–73.

analysis.¹⁰ Defendant chose to carry his sword in a park and to challenge application of Seattle's ordinance to his conduct so hardly can fault the Court of Appeals for basing its analysis on the particular circumstances involved.

Defendant also seems to contend that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Justice Alexander's concurrence in *Seattle v*. *Montana*. A concurring opinion is not controlling. That the Court of Appeals decision is contrary to certain statements in that concurring opinion does not create a conflict with the actual decision in *Montana*.

2. <u>Defendant has not shown that the Court of Appeals</u>
<u>decision applying intermediate scrutiny to his</u>
<u>challenge to Seattle's ordinance presents a significant</u>
issue of constitutional law.

Defendant next contends that the Court of Appeals decision applying intermediate scrutiny to Seattle's ordinance presents a

⁹ 179 Wn.2d 145, 161, 312 P.3d 960 (2013).

An as-applied challenge to the constitutional validity of a statute is characterized by a party's allegation that application of the statute in the specific context of the party's actions or intended actions is unconstitutional. *Evans*, 184 Wn.2d at 862.

¹¹ 129 Wn.2d 583, 600-01, 919 P.2d 1218 (1996);

¹² *Volk v. Demeerleer*, 184 Wn. App. 389, 426, 337 P.3d 372 (2014), *affirmed in part, reversed in part*, 187 Wn.2d 241, 386 P.3d 254 (2016).

significant question of constitutional law, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). He first makes the erroneous claim that the government bears the burden of establishing the constitutionality of the ordinance.¹³ On the contrary, a legislative enactment, including a municipal ordinance, is presumed to be constitutional, and the party challenging it has the burden of proving its unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt.¹⁴ This presumption of constitutionality applies even when a defendant claims the statute unconstitutionally infringes on his right to bear arms.¹⁵

Defendant seems to contend that the appropriate level of scrutiny is unclear or uncertain. In a variety of 2nd Amendment challenges to statutes and regulations, courts always have applied the level of intermediate scrutiny.¹⁶

¹³ Petition for Review, at 11.

Montana, 129 Wn.2d at 589; Kitsap County v. Kitsap Rifle & Revolver Club,1 Wn. App. 2d 393, 413, 405 P.3d 1026 (2017), review denied, 190 Wn.2d 1015 (2018); State v. Spencer, 75 Wn. App. 118, 121, 876 P.2d 939 (1994), review denied, 125 Wn.2d 1015 (1995); see also Jorgenson, 179 Wn.2d at 150 (This court will presume a legislative enactment constitutional and, if possible, construe an enactment so as to render it constitutional).

¹⁵ *Jorgenson*, 179 Wn.2d at 150–52 (rejecting constitutional challenge to statute prohibiting possession of firearm pending trial).

¹⁶ See Jorgensen, 179 Wn.2d at 161 (firearm possession by person free on bond); Seattle v. Evans, 182 Wn. App. 188, 196 n. 27, 327 P.3d

Defendant argues that the intermediate scrutiny standard as discussed in *Jorgensen*¹⁷ should not apply because Seattle's ordinance applies to all persons in all places. Again, defendant is wrong. Seattle's ordinance does not apply to hunters or fishers or to persons using a knife in their job or in a person's home or place of business.¹⁸ Seattle's ordinance applies only to certain persons in certain places.

1303 (2014), affirmed, 184 Wn.2d 856 (2015), cert. denied, 137 S.Ct. 474 (2016) (fixed-blade knives); New Mexico v. Murillo, 347 P.3d 284, 288 (2015) (possession of switchblade); Connecticut v. DeCiccio, 315 Conn. 79, 142, 105 A.3d 165 (2014) (possession of weapon – dirk knife and police baton – in a motor vehicle); Harley v. Wilkinson, 988 F.3d 766, 769 (4th Cir. 2021) (possession of firearm by convicted domestic violence misdemeanant); Wisconsin v. Roundtree, 395 Wis. 2d 94, 952 N.W.2d 765, 771 (2021) (possession of firearm by non-violent felon); Ex parte Lee, 617 S.W.3d 154, 167 (Tex. App. 2020), petition for discretionary review refused (2021) (possession of firearm in motor vehicle by member of criminal street gang); Ohio v. Weber, 2020 WL 7635472 (Ohio Supreme Court 2020) (carrying a firearm while intoxicated); United States v. Singh, 979 F.3d 697, 725 (9th Cir. 2020) (possession of firearm by nonimmigrant visa holder); Libertarian Party of Erie County v. Cuomo, 970 F.3d 106, 128 (2d Cir. 2020) (requiring good moral character for firearms license); United States v. McGinnis, 956 F.3d 747, 757 (5th Cir. 2020), cert. denied, 141 S.Ct. 1397 (2021) (possession of firearm while subject to domestic violence protection order); Mai v. United States, 952 F.3d 1106, 1115 (9th Cir. 2020) (possession of firearm by person previously subject to involuntary commitment); Maloney v. Singas, 351 F. Supp. 3d 222, 239 (E.D.N.Y. 2018) (possession of nunchaku).

¹⁷ 179 Wn.2d at 158 & 160-61.

¹⁸ SMC 12A.14.100 provides:

The proscriptions of Section 12.A.14.080.B relating to dangerous knives shall not apply to:

Defendant's argument that Seattle's ordinance prohibits him from carrying his sword for self-defense is not supported by the facts or the law. Defendant told that trial court that nobody was imminently threatening him on April 2, 2018,¹⁹ but claimed that lawful self-defense includes deterring would-be assailants.²⁰ On the contrary, the use of force is not lawful unless the person is "about to be injured."²¹ Defendant's argument about the scope of the right to

A. A licensed hunter or licensed fisherman actively engaged in hunting and fishing activity including education and travel related thereto; or

B. Any person immediately engaged in an activity related to a lawful occupation which commonly requires the use of such knife, provided such knife is carried unconcealed; provided further that a dangerous knife carried openly in a sheath suspended from the waist of the person is not concealed within the meaning of this subsection;

C. Any person carrying such knife in a secure wrapper or in a tool box while traveling from the place of purchase, from or to a place of repair, or from or to such person's home or place of business, or in moving from one (1) place of abode or business to another, or while in such person's place of abode or fixed place of business.

¹⁹ CP 56.

²⁰ CP 29.

²¹ RCW 9A.16.020 provides:

The use, attempt, or offer to use force upon or toward the person of another is not unlawful in the following cases:

^{. . .}

⁽³⁾ Whenever used by a party about to be injured, or by another lawfully aiding him or her, in preventing or attempting to prevent an offense against his or her person, or a malicious trespass, or other malicious interference with real or personal property lawfully in his or her possession, in case the force is not more than is necessary.

self-defense seems somewhat similar to that rejected by the court in *State v. Rummelhoff*,²² where the defendant argued that because he had twice been assaulted on the streets, he was entitled to use a knife to stab a taxi driver who pursued him after he failed to pay the fare in the belief that he was defending himself. "If we were to agree with appellant's position, there would be no limit to the amount of force which a person could use in defending himself against such alleged peril."²³

As the court noted in *Jorgenson*,²⁴ the defense of necessity would be available to any defendant who might need to carry a weapon in public for self-defense.²⁵ Seattle's ordinance does not

See also State v. Calvin, 176 Wn. App. 1, 14, 316 P.3d 496 (2013), remanded, 183 Wn.2d 1013, 353 P.3d 640 (2015) (Reasonable force in self-defense is justified if there is an appearance of imminent danger.)

²² 1 Wn. App. 192, 193, 459 P.2d 976, review denied, 77 Wn.2d 961 (1969).

²³ Rummelhoff, 1 Wn. App. at 193 (quoting State v. Hill, 76 Wn.2d 557, 566, 458 P.2d 171 (1969)); see also State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 240, 850 P.2d 495 (1993) (The objective aspect of self-defense keeps it firmly rooted in the narrow concept of necessity and prevents giving free rein to the short-tempered, the pugnacious, and the foolhardy who see threats of harm where the rest of us would not.)

²⁴ 179 Wn.2d at 158 n 5.

With respect to the 2nd Amendment, the 9th Circuit, after an exhaustive analysis of the history of the right to bear arms, recently concluded that there is no general right to carry arms in public for the

preclude presentation of facts or argument that a fixed-blade knife was carried in public for self-defense. Defendant simply did not present such facts.

Defendant makes no claim that Seattle Municipal Court is in need of guidance regarding application of this ordinance or that the trial courts or the Superior Courts on RALJ appeal have reached inconsistent decisions regarding the constitutionality of this ordinance. Defendant has not shown that the Court of Appeals decision presents a significant issue of constitutional law.

3. Defendant has not shown that the Court of Appeals decision recognizing the limited scope of Seattle's ordinance involves an issue of substantial public interest.

Defendant next contends that the Court of Appeals decision recognizing that Seattle's ordinance does not apply to certain persons or in certain places involves an issue of substantial public interest, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). That a person's right under state law to carry a firearm differs from that person's right under Seattle's ordinance to carry a fixed-blade knife simply

purpose of self-defense. Young v. Hawaii, 992 F.3d 765, 813 (9th Cir. 2021).

11

reflects that the Legislature does not believe that state-wide uniformity is necessary with respect to non-firearms weapons. Local governments are allowed to regulate non-firearms because of different local conditions. The Seattle City Council is entitled to believe that fixed-blade knives are a problem.

Given the reality of modern urban life, Seattle has an interest in regulating fixed blade knives to promote public safety and good order. Seattle may decide fixed blade knives are more likely to be carried for malevolent purposes than for self-defense, and the burden imposed on innocent people carrying fixed blade knives is far outweighed by the potential harm of other people carrying such knives concealed or unconcealed.²⁶

Local governments in other parts of Washington, however, may believe that carrying fixed-blade knives in public is not a public safety problem and need not be restricted. The beauty of article XI, section 11 of the constitution²⁷ is that it authorizes each local

²⁶ *Montana*, 129 Wn.2d at 595. In the 25 years since *Montana* was decided, Seattle has become an even more densely urban environment. According to the Washington Office of Financial Management, Seattle's population increased from 534,700 in 1996 to 761,100 in 2020. *See* April 1, 2020 Population of Cities, Towns, and Counties (wa.gov).

²⁷ Article XI, section 11 provides:

Any county, city, town or township may make and enforce within its limits all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws.

government to address its own particular problems in its own particular manner without having to resort to the Legislature for a one-size-fits-all solution. Defendant makes no claim that a significant number of persons are prosecuted for carrying a fixed blade knife in public or how Seattle's limited prohibition actually impacts the right to self-defense. Defendant has not shown that the Court of Appeals decision involves an issue of substantial public interest.

4. <u>Defendant has not shown that the Court of Appeals</u>
<u>decision added an element to the crime of Unlawful</u>
<u>Use of Weapons.</u>

Defendant next contends that the Court of Appeals decision adds an implied element to the crime that the fixed-blade knife was carried in a park, which conflicts with some unexplained decision of this court and presents a significant issue of constitutional law, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3). As previously discussed, the references to where defendant was carrying his sword are a necessary part of the court's analysis of defendant's as-applied challenge. The Court of Appeals did not purport to add any element to the crime of Unlawful Use of Weapons.

5. <u>Defendant has not shown that the Court of Appeals</u> decision violated his right to present a defense.

Defendant next contends that the Court of Appeals decision upholding the trial court's rejection of his necessity defense conflicts with State v. Ward²⁸ and violated his right to present a defense, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). During motions in limine, the City moved to exclude the defense of necessity.²⁹ Defendant acknowledged that nobody was imminently threatening him during the incident.³⁰ In response to the trial court's request for an offer of proof, defendant stated that several times each year someone threatens or hits him and such conduct is likely to happen again in the future.³¹ The trial court reserved ruling on the City's motion and agreed to readdress the issue if the testimony showed that defendant was immediately threatened by a specific person on the date of the incident or around that time.³² Defendant thereafter waived his right to a jury and presented no evidence.³³

²⁸ 8 Wn. App. 2d 365, 372-74, 438 P.3d 588, review denied, 193 Wn.2d 1031 (2019).

²⁹ CP 55.

³⁰ CP 56.

³¹ CP 58-59.

³² CP 60.

³³ CP 78-80.

Defendant contends that the trial court erred by excluding the necessity defense during the motions in limine. The trial court did no such thing, it simply reserved the issue to await testimony, and defendant thereafter chose not to present any testimony. The trial court did determine that the necessity defense required an immediate threat by a specific person on the date of the incident or around that time. That decision was entirely correct – the threatened harm must be imminent or immediate.³⁴

Moreover, the procedure used also was entirely correct – a pretrial ruling precluding the necessity defense was affirmed in both

³⁴ 2 W. LaFave, Substantive Criminal Law § 10.1(d)(5), at 175-76 (3rd Ed. 2018); State v. Parker, 127 Wn. App. 352, 354–55, 110 P.3d 1152 (2005) (necessity instruction in an Unlawful Possession of a Firearm case properly refused because the defendant's testimony that he had been shot almost nine months previously did not show any present and specific threat); State v. Jeffrey, 77 Wn. App. 222, 227, 889 P.2d 956 (1995) (necessity instruction in an Unlawful Possession of a Firearm case properly refused where the defendant claimed that a suspicious person was lurking outside his house); State v. Arntsen, 11 Wn. App. 2d 1062, at *10 (2020) (the defendant's testimony that he was obtaining weapons to protect himself against a future harm that might occur at some unknown time and place insufficient to raise the defense of necessity); State v. Smith, 176 Wn. App. 1010 (2013) (necessity defense not available because the defendant could not demonstrate that any violence he might have feared was imminent). These unpublished opinions are cited as nonbinding authority under GR 14.1(a).

State v. Gallegos³⁵ and State v. Smith.³⁶ A trial court's correct ruling that sufficient evidence was not presented to support a necessity defense does not violate a defendant's right to present a defense.³⁷ Defendant's concession that he was not faced with any imminent threat on April 2 while strolling around Green Lake precludes the necessity defense. The trial court correctly determined that defendant's offer of proof did not support the defense of necessity, and the Court of Appeals did not err by upholding that decision.

E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, defendant's Petition for Review should be denied.